### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK No.

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/7/2025 3:00 PM

Case #: 1043678

# In the Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Michael Mariani and Prestige Management, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

Department of Financial Institutions,

Respondent.

### **Petition for Discretionary Review**

Alan M. Wolper (Pro Hac Vice) UB Greensfelder LLP 200 W. Madison, Ste 3300 Chicago, IL 60606 (312) 658-6564 awolper@ubglaw.com John Bender Bender Law, PLLC 4634 E Marginal Way S Ste C-150 Seattle, WA 98134 john@bender-law.com

Attorneys for Petitioners

### **

### IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND THE DECISION BELOW

Petitioners Michael Mariani and Prestige Management, LLC respectfully ask this Court to review the decision in *Mariani* v. Dep't of Fin. Insts., 568 P.3d 689 (Wash. Ct. App. 2025).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The Washington Securities Act ("Act") makes it unlawful for one person to offer a security to another person unless both the offeror and the security are registered, or the security is exempt from registration. RCW § 21.20.140. Under the Act, a security is expressly defined as "any note; stock; treasury stock; bond; debenture; evidence of indebtedness; certificate of interest or participation in any profit-sharing agreement; collateral-trust certificate; preorganization certificate or subscription; transferable share; investment contract; investment of money or other consideration in the risk capital of a venture with the expectation of some valuable benefit to the investor where the investor does not receive the right to exercise practical and actual control over the managerial decisions of the venture. . . ." RCW § 21.20.005(17). Crucially, the Act exempts both sales not

involving a public offering, and isolated transactions. RCW § 21.20.320.

The questions presented are:

- Whether the court of appeals misinterpreted the Act and misapplied the *Howey* factors when it held that all deferred sales trusts, including the trust in this case, are securities.
- 2. Whether the court of appeals misinterpreted the Act when it held that no deferred sales trusts, including the trust in this case, are exempt from registration as non-public offerings or isolated transactions.
- 3. Whether the court of appeals misinterpreted the Act when it held that Mr. Mariani and Prestige Management, LLC, who had no direct involvement in the recommendation, offered unregistered securities to the Clines.

### STATEMENT

In 2013, Gary and Irene Cline decided to sell their longtime vacation home to their neighbors. CP 126. To facilitate the sale, they established the Lake Cavanaugh Trust ("Trust"), a deferred sales trust, and then conveyed their vacation home to the Trust with the understanding that the Trust would, in turn, sell the home, after which they would receive the sale proceeds in installments over several years. CP 126-27, CP 128. The purpose: to reduce their overall tax burden by spreading out, over time, the recognition of the capital gain they received upon the sale of the vacation home (which had appreciated in value significantly subsequent to their purchase years before). CP 127, CP 2929. Then, in accordance with the Clines' expectations, the Trust completed the transaction by selling the home to the neighbors at the agreed-upon price, and executed a promissory note payable to the Clines, on terms (i.e., interest rate and duration) that the Clines dictated. CP 127-28.

The Clines, through their attorney, selected the Petitioners, Mr. Mariani and his accounting firm Prestige Management, LLC, as the trustees of the Trust. CP 127. Mr. Mariani and Prestige were not hired to draft the language of the Trust, or to sell the Clines' vacation home to their neighbors. *Id.* Indeed, those two things had already been planned well in advance of Petitioners' involvement. *Id.* Mr. Mariani and Prestige, instead, were hired to administer the Trust, manage its assets, and make the installment payments according to the terms the Clines had dictated. CP 129.

Four years into the implementation of the Trust, the Clines soured on the investment strategy and demanded Mr. Mariani and Prestige immediately liquidate the trust assets. CP 3296-97. After some discussion about the risks and potential tax ramifications of doing so, Mr. Mariani and Prestige did their best to comply, selling those assets which were immediately liquid. CP 3296-99. CP 1275. But, because the purpose of the Trust was to pay the Clines over a much longer period of time, some of the Trust's assets could not be sold on the spot. Id. Dissatisfied that they did not receive the full balance, the Clines filed a complaint with the Washington Department of Financial Institutions ("Department"), prompting the Department to open an investigation. CP 1273.

Following a three-year investigation, the Department brought charges against Mr. Mariani and Prestige in 2020, alleging that their actions, as trustee and administrator of the Trust, amounted to offers/sales of securities and fraud. CP 2107. A hearing was held in 2022. CP 10. The administrative law judge dismissed the fraud charge but affirmed the other securities-related charges. CP 28. The Department then issued its Final Order, requiring Prestige to pay a fine plus expenses. CP 3529, 3544.

Mr. Mariani and Prestige challenged the Department's Final Order in court. In January 2024, the Superior Court upheld the Order. *Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts.*, 568 P.3d 689, at 695. Mr. Mariani and Prestige then appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division 1. *Id.* The court of appeals affirmed, holding that (1) all deferred sales trusts, including the Trust, are securities, (2) no deferred sales trusts, including the Trust, are exempt from registration as securities under the Act, and (3) Mr. Mariani and Prestige offered the Trust to the Clines. *Id.* at 702.

The court of appeals decision is wrong, upends decades of settled expectations, and renders the private offering exemption

stantial legal and practical issues the decision has created.

### ARGUMENT

The court of appeals held that all deferred sales trusts, including the Trust, are securities; none, including the Trust, are exempt from registration; and that Mr. Mariani and Prestige had offered the Trust to the Clines. That decision is flawed in its application to Mr. Mariani and Prestige, and in its sweeping overgeneralizations. By categorically declaring all deferred sales trusts to be securities, and denying any possibility of exemption, the court of appeals exceeded the text of the Act and misapplied established law.

This Court should grant review because the court of appeals decision raises serious legal and policy concerns with broad public impact. By treating all deferred sales trusts as securities, the ruling threatens to upend decades of settled expectations among estate planners, fiduciaries, and their clients. And by holding that the Petitioners offered the Trust--despite playing no direct role in its recommendation---the court of appeals misconstrued established law and set a troubling precedent. The decision also undermines the private offering exemption by holding, through flawed reasoning, that any offering to an unsophisticated buyer is necessarily a public one. That logic injects substantial uncertainty into private transactions and risks chilling access to capital markets for individuals and small businesses.

Given the far-reaching consequences of the court of appeals decision, further review is both necessary and warranted. This Court should grant the Petition.

### I. The court of appeals errored in holding that all deferred sales trusts, including the Trust, are securities as defined by the Act.

In its decision, the court of appeals held that all deferred sales trusts are securities. *Id.* at 696. It reached this sweeping conclusion based solely on the features of the Trust, without determining whether those features are also common to all other deferred sales trusts. This overgeneralization has far-reaching implications: deferred sales trusts are structurally the same as many other widely used trusts like Grantor Retained Annuity Trusts (GRATs), Spousal Access Trusts (SLATs), Charitable Remainder Annuity/Unitrusts (CRATs and CRUTs), etc. Under the court's reasoning, these trusts, too, are now securities and subject to regulation as such.

Even as applied to the Trust, the court of appeals decision lacks support in both the text of the Act and the factual record. Put simply, the court misapplied the *Howey* test, which requires both a common enterprise and an expectation of profit (among other things). There was no enterprise here—common or otherwise—and no expectation of profit. At bottom, the Trust was a tax-deferral mechanism; not an investment vehicle.

A. As to the Trust, there was no common enterprise.

The second prong of *Howey*, requiring a common enterprise, fails because no common enterprise existed among the Clines, Mr. Mariani, and Prestige. In *Edwards*, the U.S. Supreme Court further clarified *Howey*, explaining that an investment contract can be a security if the party "invests in a common enterprise *with* the expectation that they would earn a profit solely through the efforts of the promotor or a third party ...," and "... when we held that 'profits' must 'come solely from the efforts of others,' we were speaking of the profits the investors seek on their investment." *S.E.C. v. Edwards*, 540 U.S. 389, 394 (2004)

(emphasis added) quoting *S.E.C. v. Howey*, 328, U.S. 293, 299 (1946). *See also Hocking v. Dubois*, 85 F.2d 1449, 1455 (9th Cir. 1989) (concluding a common enterprise exists where there is a venture, business, or goal common among the parties).

Under *Howey* and its progeny, the second prong is a twostep analysis. First, is there a common enterprise, and if so, is the investor seeking profit through a third party's efforts? The *Philips* statement that "a dependence by one party for his profit on the success of some other party in performing his part of the venture. . ." is consistent with *Howey* and *Edwards* in that "venture" in *Philips* is equivalent to "common enterprise" in *Howey* and *Edwards*. *State v. Philips*, 108 Wn.2d 627, 632 (1987). Put another way, like *Howey* and *Edwards*, *Philips* requires (1) an investor seeking profit through a third party (2) of a joint venture.

Here, the court of appeals misapprehended *Howey* and *Philips* by looking only at dependence and failing to first determine if a common enterprise/joint venture existed. In finding, instead, that the second *Howey* prong was satisfied solely because the Clines depended on Mr. Binkele and Prestige for their investment profits, the court of appeals failed to do half the required

analysis. *Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts.*, 568 P.3d 689 at 697. If it had, it would have found the facts did not show a common enterprise existed among the Clines, Mr. Mariani, and Prestige.

First, there was no enterprise. This was an installment contract and nothing more. CP 125. The Clines were only entitled to the proceeds of the sale plus eight percent interest for the duration of the promissory note. CP 129-30. Once they conveyed their property to the Trust, they had no interest in the Trust beyond its obligation to pay them (consistent with the terms of the promissory note, which they dictated). CP 126. Under these facts, there can be no enterprise, no joint venture—only a transaction.

Second, even if the Trust could be regarded as an enterprise, it was not a *common* enterprise. Quite the opposite of commonality, as previously explained, the interests of the Clines, Mr. Mariani, and Prestige were both different and conflicting. The Clines' interest: to be paid what was due to them under the promissory note. CP 125-26. Mr. Mariani's and Prestige's interest: make profit—for themselves, not for the Clients—by generating returns exceeding what the Trust was obligated to pay the Clines. CP 129. The court of appeals skipped this analysis and reasoned the common enterprise existed solely because the Clines were dependent on Mr. Binkele and Prestige for their profits.<sup>1</sup> *Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts.*, 568 P.3d 689 at 697. The evidence of that dependency, it said, centered on Mr. Binkele's investment recommendations to the Clines, their approval of them, and Prestige's implementation. *Id.* But, while it is true the Clines relied upon and approved Mr. Binkele's recommendations, these actions do not demonstrate the parties were engaged in a common enterprise.

Quite the opposite, their involvement was designed to counterbalance the *lack* of common interest inherent in the structure of deferred sales trusts. On the one side, the Clines, as creditors under the promissory note, were entitled to receive the proceeds from the sale of their vacation home, plus interest. CP 3270-71. The trust assets served as collateral for that note. CP 3284. On the other side, Mr. Mariani and Prestige, as both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Binkele was the investment advisor hired by Mr. Mariani and Prestige to make investment recommendations to the Trust. CP 3136.

trustees of the Trust *and its beneficiaries*, stood to gain any remaining principal and earnings in the trust exceeding the amount owed to the Clines. CP **3270**. Importantly, they owed no fiduciary duty to the Clines, who were not beneficiaries of the Trust. And because the promissory note was non-recourse, the Clines had no legal avenue to recover from Mr. Mariani and Prestige if the Trust assets proved insufficient to satisfy the note. CP **126**.

Given this structure, the Clines' involvement and review of Mr. Binkele's investment recommendations made perfect sense. Left unchecked, theoretically, Mr. Mariani and Prestige could have pursued speculative investments in an effort to maximize returns and capture excess profits. And if those investments failed, the Clines would bear that loss—not them.

Conversely, it also made sense why the Clines' involvement was limited, as the court of appeals observed, to reviewing and accepting Mr. Binkele's recommendations. *Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts.*, 568 P.3d 689 at 697. The Clines' interest in the Trust, after all, did not extend beyond that of a creditor. In this way, the Clines' involvement was akin to a creditor holding a security interest in a securities account. To safeguard that interest, it was entirely appropriate for them to retain a say in how the Trust's assets were invested. But, because their interest only extended to what was owed under the note, it was also entirely appropriate for them to defer to Mr. Binkele unless they believed his recommendations threatened repayment of the note.

When viewing the Clines' involvement through this lens, their involvement was not evidence of a common interest, as the court of appeals held, but a pragmatic approach to counterbalance the uncommon and competing interests.

### B. Nor was there an expectation of profit.

Turning to the third *Howey* prong, there was no justified expectation of profit. At all times, the Clines were entitled only to the proceeds of the property sale plus eight percent interest. CP 129-30. The purpose of the eight percent interest was not to earn the Clines a profit; rather, it accounted for the Clines' lost investment opportunity had they paid the tax upfront and then invested the proceeds. Equally important here, the Clines never had an interest in the Trust, nor any right to the profits generated by it. CP 126. Their only interest was in fulfillment of the promissory note. CP 125-26.

The court of appeals, however, reasoned this third prong was satisfied because the Clines expected to receive profit from the long-term growth of the assets. Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts., 568 P.3d 689 at 697. That is not so. First, the Clines negotiated and chose eight percent as the interest rate when they created the Trust. CP 2893-94. And the formation documents made clear they were only entitled to the proceeds, plus interest. CP 125-26. But, even if the Clines mistakenly believed they were owed additional profits, as the court of appeals incorrectly found, their beliefs were not justified because the written documents showed just the opposite. When confronted with mistaken beliefs by a contracting party, the documents govern—not the party's beliefs. *Cf. Conran v. Seafirst Bank*, No. 40075-4-I, 1998 WL 40659, at \*4-5 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 2, 1998).

Here, the Lake Cavanaugh Trust Agreement and promissory note made clear that once the Clines sold their appreciated property to the Trust, in return, they were to receive the proceeds of the sale plus interest, period. CP 126-27, CP 128. Indeed, Mr. Cline testified that he understood the documents and what they said. CP 2946-49. Hence, the Clines did not expect profit from the Trust.

# II. The court of appeals erred in holding that all deferred sales trusts, including the Trust, are not exempt from Registration under the Act.

As with its securities holding, the court of appeals cast too wide a net when concluding that no deferred sales trust qualifies for an exemption from registration under the Act. *Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts.*, 568 P.3d 689 at 701. Even assuming the Trust is a security, it would still fall within one of the Act's two exemptions: (1) sales not involving a public offering, or (2) isolated transactions. RCW § 21.20.320. Here, the court of appeals misapplied both. In assessing whether the Trust involved a public offering, it applied the wrong legal standard and relied on flawed reasoning. And in rejecting the isolated transaction exemption, the court of appeals incorrectly treated all deferred sales trusts as fungible, ignoring the individualized nature of the transaction.

### *A. As to the Trust, it was not a public offering.*

The court of appeals concluded that the Trust was a public offering. Its reasoning followed this line: under *Ralston*, "[a]n offering to those who are shown to be able of fend for themselves is a transaction 'not involving any public offering'"; the Clines were not capable of fending for themselves; the Trust, therefore, is a public offering.<sup>2</sup> This is a classic fallacy of the inverse. *Ralston* does not stand for the proposition that every offering to someone who cannot fend for themselves is necessarily public. *Id.* The absence of sophistication is relevant, but it is not dispositive—and certainly not sufficient, on its own, to transform a private, individualized transaction into a public offering.

The court of appeals, instead, should have followed the long line of cases, since *Ralston*, applying its core principles. Indeed, courts across the country "have developed flexible tests for the private offering exemption, focusing on: (1) the number of offerees, (2) the sophistication of the offerees, (3) the size and manner of the offering, and (4) the relationship to the issuer. *S.E.C v. Murphy*, 626 F.2d 633, 644-45 (9th Cir. 1980). In looking only at the sophistication of the Clines, the court of appeals left its analysis unfinished.

B. And it was also an isolated, one-off, transaction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See S.E.C. v. Ralston Purina Co., 346 U.S. 119, 125 (1953).

The court of appeals concluded that Mr. Mariani and Prestige failed to prove the Trust was an isolated transaction because Mr. Binkele and Mr. Campbell had helped other clients create their own deferred sales trusts. Mariani v. Dep't of Fin. Insts., 568 P.3d 689 at 701. This conclusion misapprehends deferred sales trusts by lumping all of them together as one fungible product. They are not that. To the contrary, each deferred sales trust is a customized and individualized installment contract involving a specific seller, a specific buyer, and a unique appreciated asset (such as a particular parcel of real property). CP 3305-06. The trust created in any given deferred sales trust transaction acts only as the facilitator of the particular asset being sold and for that particular seller of the asset. CP 125-26. Further, the future payments of proceeds and interest are customized to the needs of the seller and their unique tax situation. CP 126. Payment terms vary as to amounts and the length of deferral. Id. Thus, even at their cores, while every deferred sales trust involves the same component parts and provides the same mechanism to achieve

tax deferral, no two deferred sales trust transactions are the same.<sup>3</sup> As such, these transactions are inherently isolated.

III. The court of appeals erred in holding that Mr. Mariani and Prestige—despite having no role in recommending the Trust—were responsible for offering it to the Clines.

Mr. Mariani and Prestige have consistently maintained that they did not offer the Trust to the Clines, as they were not directly involved in the discussions leading up to the Clines' decision to proceed. CP 03274. In fact, the record lacks any evidence of Mr. Mariani's and Prestige's direct participation.

The court of appeals, nevertheless, concluded that Mr. Mariani and Prestige offered the Trust to the Clines, relying chiefly on the actions of their attorney, Mr. Campbell. *Mariani v.*

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