FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/5/2025 3:55 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1043678

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL MARIANI ET AL.,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

STEPHEN MANNING Assistant Attorney General WSBA #36965 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 360-534-4846

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

IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

This Court should decline Petitioners' request for discretionary review. First, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case was consistent with established precedent of this Court. To determine whether a transaction is a security, this Court has repeatedly held that Washington courts apply the test outlined in

S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Company, 328 U.S. 293, 299 (1946). Cellular Engineering, Ltd. V. O'Neill, 118 Wn.2d 16, 26-27, 820 P.2d 941 (1991); McClellan v. Sundholm, 89 Wn.2d 527, 531, P.2d 371 (1978). The Court of Appeals faithfully applied that test to the facts of this case and properly concluded that this DST is a security.

Second, Petitioners overstate the public import of the issues in this appeal, arguing that the Court of Appeals held that all DSTs are securities and that no DSTs are exempt from registration. Petition for Review at 2. The Court of Appeals made no such sweeping generalizations and instead engaged in a fact-specific analysis to determine whether the individual *Howey* factors were met as applied to the DST mechanism at issue in this matter. The Court of Appeals did not opine on whether all DST arrangements are securities. Nor did the Court of Appeals hold that registration exemptions do not apply to all DST transactions, as Petitioners argue; instead the Court only held that no such exemption applied in this case. In short, this case would

only apply in situations having similar fact patterns. Petitioners have failed to meet the standards set forth in RAP 13.4(b), and this Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that the Lake Cavanaugh DST is a "Security"

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Department's conclusion that Prestige and Mariani offered and sold a security. CP 3543. Under Washington law, a "security" is defined very broadly and includes an investment contract. RCW 21.20.005(17).

The United States Supreme Court has declared that the definition of a security in general "embodies a flexible rather than a static principle, one that is capable of adaptation to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by those who seek the use of the money of others on the promise of profits." *Howey*, 328 U.S. at 299. In determining whether a given transaction constitutes a security under the federal statutes, "form should be disregarded for substance and the emphasis should be on

economic reality." *Tcherepnin v. Knight*, 389 U.S. 332, 336 (1967).

In Howey, the United States Supreme Court articulated the relevant test for determining whether something is an investment contract, and therefore a security. In that case, W.J. Howey Company offered tracts of land containing citrus groves to the public. *Howey*, 328 U.S. at 295. Each prospective customer was offered both a land sales contract and a service contract, having been told by Howey that it was not feasible to invest in a grove unless service arrangements were made. *Id*. The service company was given full discretion and authority over the cultivation, harvest, and marketing of the groves. *Id.* at 296. The purchasers of the property generally lacked the knowledge, skill and equipment necessary for the cultivation of citrus trees. *Id.* They were attracted by the expectation of substantial profits. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court held that the parties were engaged in an investment contract, with the test being whether the scheme involves an investment of money in a common enterprise with profits to come solely from the efforts of other. *Howey*, 328 U.S. at 301. Over the years, *Howey* has been applied by many courts to evaluate whether a given transaction constitutes a security, including courts in Washington. *S.E.C. v. Charles E. Edwards*, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004); *S.E.C. v. Glenn W. Turner Enterprises, Inc.*, 474 F.2d 476, 483 (9th Cir. 1973); *Cellular Engineering*, 118 Wn.2d at 26, (1991); *McClellan*, 89 Wn.2d at 531-32, (1978). In later cases, the last element of the test was modified to require that profits come primarily or substantially from the efforts of others—rather than "solely" from the efforts of others. *Cellular Engineering*, 118 Wn.2d at 26.

1. The DST arrangement offered by Petitioners is a "security" under the *Howey* investment contract test

Prestige and Mariani agree that *Howey* provides the applicable test, but they incorrectly apply that test to the facts of this case. Under a proper application of the test, the Court of

Appeals was correct to conclude that the DST arrangement is a security.

a. The first element is undisputed

Prestige and Mariani concede that the first element of the *Howey* test, the existence of an investment³, has been met. Petition for Review at 9.

b. The DST was a common enterprise

The second element of the *Howey* investment contract test is whether the investment venture was a common enterprise.

McClellan, 89 Wn.2d at 532. A common enterprise denotes a dependence by one party for his or her profit on the success of some other party in performing his or her part of the venture. Id. In Howey, the common enterprise was met because the individual land owners resided in distant locations and did not have the equipment or experience to cultivate, harvest, or market citrus products. Howey, 328 U.S. at 299-300. Management by a service

³ McClellan, 89 Wn.2d at 532.

company was essential if the investor was to expect a return on their investment. *Id.* at 300.

Similarly, in this case, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that this element was satisfied because the Clines depended on Prestige, the trustee, to invest the proceeds of their Lake Cavanaugh property in a way that achieved their desired investment objectives. The Clines were dependent on Prestige because their general investment knowledge was somewhere between "limited" and "good." CP 1235. As the Court of Appeals recognized, all parties, including Prestige, relied on Binkele due to his 30 years of experience in the securities industry. *Mariani*, 34 Wn. App. 2d at 370-71. And although the Clines were careful investors, being a careful investor often means relying on someone who knows more. Id. "Dependence is not negated simply by a party having a 'limited to good' understanding of investing." Id. Further, the Trust gave Prestige complete authority to carry out the purpose of the Trust, which was to sell the Lake Cavanaugh property and invest the proceeds.

CP 1178-85. If Prestige invests the asset in such a way that the Trust can meet its interest rate obligations, the Clines benefit by achieving their financial goals without having to dip into the asset principal. CP 13 (FOF 5.20).

Petitioners argue that there was no enterprise and even if there was, it was not a common enterprise. Petition for Review at 8-13. Petitioners' view is that the DST is merely "...an installment contract and nothing more.". Id. at 10. But the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that the Clines were only interested in tax-deferral. Mariani, 34 Wn. App. 2d at 370-73. The Clines repeatedly stated that asset growth, rather than simply regular income, was a primary goal for the DST. *Id.* at 373; CP 1274. In the Risk Tolerance Questionnaire, the Clines stated that they were interested in long-term growth. *Id.*; CP 18 (FOF 5.65). Further, Gary Cline signed a declaration in which he declared that he and his wife "informed Mr. Binkele that we were interested in long-term growth of the Trust assets". CP 2094. Gary Cline testified that there were two reasons for entering into the DST: tax deferral and the growth of the funds in the Trust. CP 2921 (lines 216:5–216:21). With the Clines interest in the growth of the Trust assets, there is naturally a dependence by the Clines on Binkele and Mariani to invest the Trust assets in a manner that would help the Clines achieve investment growth, rather than just tax-deferral.

Further, such an argument is at odds with Prestige's own marketing materials. There, Prestige states: "The [DST] has the ability to generate substantially more money over the long run than a direct and taxed sale. It is also superior to a direct installment sale as the credit risk of a defaulting buyer are eliminated." CP 517. Prestige, in its marketing materials provided to the Clines further stated the following: "The seller is desiring to have a professional staff advise and assist with any real estate or business transfer, as well as manage and maximize the future wealth and income for the Seller over the period of several years." CP 521 (emphasis added).

In addition, Petitioners mischaracterize what the Clines were seeking from the transaction. Petition for Review at 1, 3, 8. While the Clines did seek to defer taxes, the uncontested Findings of Fact establish that this was not their only objective. The Clines told Campbell that their understanding was that interest would accrue at eight percent and that payments from the Trust would begin in 2014 with a final "balloon payment" to occur five years later. CP 17 (FOF 5.57). Further, the Clines wanted ". . . for the Trust to accrue interest and pay out at a higher rate later". CP 15 (FOF 5.33).

Finally, the promissory note obligates the Trust to pay the asset seller. CP 12. However, if the investments perform poorly the trust could run out of money prior to making full payment to the asset seller. CP 13. If so, the asset seller would have no recourse against the trustee. *Id*. Conversely, if the Trust does well in its investments, the trustee can retain any excess over and above what it is legally obligated to pay on the promissory note. *Id*.

Both parties are aligned in wanting the investments to perform well so that the promissory note is paid in full and the Trustee can retain excess profits.

c. There was an expectation that profits will be gained from the efforts of Prestige/Mariani

The third and final element under the *Howey* investment contract test is an expectation by the investor that profits will be gained from the efforts of some other party. *McClellan*, 89 Wn.2d at 532. An investor need not expect profits solely from the efforts of others. *State v. Phillips*, 108 Wn.2d 627, 635, 741 P.2d 24 (1987). The fact that investors were required to exert some efforts if a return would be achieved does not automatically preclude a finding of an investment contract. *Glenn W. Turner Enterprises*, *Inc.*, 474 F.2d at 482. The efforts of the other must be "the undeniably significant ones, those essential managerial efforts which affect the failure or success of the enterprise." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that this element was satisfied because the Clines understood and expected that the

investment of the proceeds of the Lake Cavanaugh property sale would result in long term growth of the assets from the efforts of Prestige/Mariani. Mariani, 34 Wn. App. 2d at 373. The Clines were interested in long-term growth and expected needing the funds in six to ten years. CP 18. The Clines' understanding was that trust assets would accrue at eight percent with periodic payments including a "balloon payment" coming their way. CP 17. The Clines understood and expected that the proceeds from the Lake Cavanaugh property were to be invested by the Trust, with the assistance of Binkele, in order to realize a longterm growth of the Trust assets. CP 2094. Draft versions of the promissory note promised the Clines an interest rate of up to eight percent a year. CP 1996. A promise of a fixed return does not preclude a scheme from being an investment contract. Charles E. Edwards, **540** U.S. 389: at also State v. Argo, 81 Wn. App. 552, 562, 915 P.2d 1103 (1996) (under Washington law, a fixed interest rate does not preclude a finding of interdependence of fortunes). As the Court of Appeals

stated, the promised eight percent interest would result from the undeniably significant efforts of Binkele and Prestige in recommending and making appropriate investments. *Mariani*, 34 Wn.App.2d at 372-73.

B. Substantial Evidence Supports the Finding That Prestige and Mariani Offered a Security

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioners' argument that they had no role in offering the DST to the Clines. Petition for Review, p. 18. As the Court explained, because attorney Todd Campbell "acted in his capacity as Prestige's attorney in offering the Clines the DST, substantial evidence supports the finding that Prestige and Mariani offered a security." *Id.* at 376.

The record establishes that Campbell was involved in dozens of emails with both the Clines and Binkele leading up to the formation of the Trust. CP 2144, 2207–14, 2241-56. Campbell gave the Clines a Disclosure and Waiver of Conflict of Interest, which made it clear that he was working on behalf of Prestige. *Id.*, CP 2203–06. In that document, Campbell stated he

would work with the Clines to sell certain assets to the Trust, to be established by Prestige. CP 2203. Campbell further made clear that "I will be representing Prestige in this transaction as I have represented them in similar transactions over the years . . ."

Id. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, this disclosure discussed potential adversarial interests between the Clines and clients of "ours", referencing Campbell and Prestige as one entity.

Mariani, 34 Wn.App.2d at 376. The Court was correct to conclude that as one entity, any action that Campbell took, he took on behalf of Prestige. Id.

The marketing materials also demonstrate how the DST was offered to the Clines. Campbell provided a DST Power Point slide printout to the Clines. CP 3655-77. Prestige is prominently displayed on the first page of the slideshow. *Id.* at 3657. Mariani is introduced as one of the principals of Prestige. *Id.* at 3660. The slideshow states: "[t]he ("Seller") can enter into an arrangement with a Prestige Investment Management, LLC ("Prestige") for complete transactional closing, wealth management, and other

benefits." *Id.* at 3663. Prestige is displayed as overseeing the DST. *Id.* at 3664. Indeed, Prestige is displayed as the entity overseeing the entire DST transaction. CP at 3664–67.

Prestige and Mariani, through their attorney, marketed the DST to the Clines, set up the Lake Cavanaugh Trust, facilitated the transfer of the Lake Cavanaugh property to third party buyers, transferred the proceeds to the Trust, and then invested those proceeds on the recommendations of Binkele. Substantial evidence supports that Petitioners played a substantial role in the sale/offer of the DST.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals failed to consider and apply the "substantial contributive" test outlined in *Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 130, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987). As in *Hines*, Petitioners further claim that their actions closely parallel the actions of Perkins Coie. *Hines v. DataLine Systems*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 149-50, 787 P.2d 8 (1990). But the Court of Appeals reviewed the contributions from Prestige and gave

significant weight to the Department's interpretation that the sale of a security involves people who are involved in completing paperwork to set up the DST. *Mariani*, 34 Wn. App.2d at 377-78. The Court of Appeals was correct to hold that there is "ample evidence" of Petitioner's involvement here, given they "were involved in the original marketing efforts, the negotiation of the DST, and the execution of the documents." *Id.* at 378. Under these circumstances, Petitioners did play a substantial role in the offer and sale of the security.

Further, in *Haberman* v. *Hines*, this Court was interpreting a party's liability under RCW 21.20.430, the civil liability portion of the Securities Act. RCW 21.20.430 has no application to this matter, which was brought pursuant to the Department's regulatory powers under RCW 21.20.390. The "substantial contributive" test discussed in *Haberman* v. *Hines* does not apply here.

C. No Exemption For Registration Exists

Petitioners argue that this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals held that no deferred sales trust qualifies for a registration exemption. Petition for Review, p. 15. Again, Petitioners overstate the impact of the Court of Appeals decision. In fact, the Court of Appeals made no such holding. Rather, the Court looked only at this DST arrangement, specifically stating it was not analyzing the impact on a "variety of other financial entities". Mariani, 34 Wn. App. 2d at 379. The Court of Appeals concluded that the DST arrangement offered to the Clines does not qualify for either the isolated transaction exemption or the private offering exemption, where the only available evidence established that Petitioners were involved many such transactions. The Court's conclusions were correct and do not warrant further review by this Court.

1. The DST was not an isolated transaction.

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